Medita	tion Ex	perience	is Relate	d to Al	exithym	ia and	Two	Distinct	Styles	of (Copir	12

Bhargavee Aravkar

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the Honours degree of Bachelor of Psychological

Science (Honours)

School of Psychology, The University of Adelaide
October, 2020

Word Count: 9364

Table of Contents

List of Tables	5
Abstract	6
Declaration	7
Contribution Statement	8
Acknowledgements	9
Introduction	10
1.1 Alexithymia and Types of Alexithymia	10
1.2 Alexithymia, Interpersonal Relationships and Mental Health	12
1.3 Measuring Alexithymia	13
1.4 Alexithymia and Coping	14
1.5 Alexithymia and Mindfulness Meditation	18
1.6 Aims and Hypotheses of the Present Study	20
Method	22
2.1 Participants	22
2.2 Procedure	22
2.3 Measures	23
2.3.1 Meditation Experience Questions	23
2.3.2 Toronto Alexithymia Scale	24
2.3.3 Brief Coping Orientation To Problems Experienced Inventory	24

2.4 Design and Statistical Analysis	25
Results	26
3.1 Preliminary Data	26
3.2 Descriptive Analyses	27
3.3 Tests of Hypothesis 1: Bivariate Relationships	31
3.4 Tests of Hypothesis 2: Meditation Experience with Coping Measures	32
3.5 Tests of Hypothesis 3: Meditation Experience with Alexithymia	35
3.6 Tests of Hypothesis 4: Indirect Effects	37
Discussion	38
4.1 Overview	38
4.2 Summary of Findings	39
4.2.1 Relationship of Alexithymia with Coping	39
4.2.2 Relationship of Meditation Experience with Coping	40
4.2.3 Relationship of Meditation Experience with Alexithymia	42
4.2.4 Indirect Relationship of Meditation Experience with Coping Styles thro	ough
Alexithymia	43
4.3 Theoretical and Clinical Implications	44
4.4 Strengths, Limitations and Methodological Considerations	45
4.5 Future Directions for Research	47
4.6 Conclusion	48

References	49
Appendices	63
Appendix A	63
T-tests for Gender Differences in Alexithymia and Coping Measures	63
One-Way ANOVA for Level of Education Differences in Alexithymia and Coping	
Measures	63

List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency and percentages of participants in each category of meditation experience
(Years of Meditation, Minutes of Meditation Session, Frequency of Meditation and Type of
Meditation) (N = 130)28
Table 2. Internal Consistency, Means, Standard Deviations and Confidence Intervals for
Measures of Alexithymia and Coping ($N = 130$)
Table 3. Summary of Correlations for Scores on DIF, DDF, EOT, TAS-20 Total, Avoidant Coping
and Approach Coping $(N = 130)$
Table 4. Means, Standard Deviations and 95% Confidence Intervals for Minutes of Meditation
and Avoidant Coping ($N = 130$)
Table 5. Means, Standard Deviations and 95% Confidence Intervals for Years of Meditation and
$TAS-20 \ Total \ (N = 129)$

Abstract

Alexithymia is a cognitive and affective deficit, characterized by an inability to comprehend the emotional states of oneself or others. Increased levels of alexithymia have been linked to maladaptive (avoidant) coping and a deficient relationship with adaptive (approach) coping, potentially leading to various psychological disorders and even suicidal thoughts. Meditation practice is associated with improved psychological well-being and emotion regulation, however there is limited evidence concerning the relationship of meditation with coping and alexithymia. Therefore, it is desirable to investigate the relationship of meditation experience with avoidant and approach coping, and alexithymia. Adult participants recruited from the University of Adelaide first-year onwards Psychology pool and social media participated in an online survey assessing meditation experience, alexithymia and two distinct styles of coping; avoidant and approach coping. Measures of alexithymia were positively correlated with avoidant coping and negatively correlated with approach coping. Minutes of meditation showed a significant relationship with lower avoidant coping, but not higher approach coping, and years of meditation showed a significant relationship with reduced alexithymia. Although, intervention studies are needed, meditation may be a useful tool for reducing avoidant coping strategies and encouraging approach coping strategies, ultimately reducing alexithymia.

Keywords: alexithymia, maladaptive coping, adaptive coping, meditation, emotion regulation

Declaration

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree of diploma in any University, and, to the best of my knowledge, this thesis contains no material previously published except where due reference is made. I give permission for the digital version of this thesis to be made available on the web, via the University of Adelaide's digital thesis repository, the Library Search and through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the School to restrict access for a period of time.

October, 2020

Contribution Statement

In writing this thesis, my supervisor and I collaborated to generate research questions of interest and ran some of the tests for data analysis. I designed the appropriate methodology and conducted the literature search, completed the ethics application, and wrote the Qualtrics Survey. I was responsible for all participant recruitment and data collection, data analysis and thesis write-up.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my primary supervisor, for providing me with constant support, assistance and guidance. He was always just an email away whenever I had any doubts or confusions. His quick replies to my emails, instantly made me feel calm whenever I was feeling stressed and anxious. I thoroughly enjoyed working with him and learnt a lot from his expertise.

To my external supervisor, thank you for always checking up on me to see how I was doing and how the thesis was coming along. It really meant a lot, as you provided me with a lot of motivation and will continue to do so.

I would like to give a special mention to my younger brother and my close friends, who have not only been my main source of support but you guys were always there to cheer me up and lighten my mood, through the whole process. Seriously, you all made one of the most stressful years of my life, that much more enjoyable.

I would also like to thank all of the participants who took time out of their day to complete my survey. This research would have not been possible without you.

Finally, to my beloved parents, I would not be where I am without your continuous support since day one. Thank you for always motivating me to do my best and being so proud of everything that I do. I would like to dedicate this thesis to my parents because none of this would have been possible, if it wasn't for them.

Introduction

Alexithymia (Sifneos, 1973) is a personality construct that is experienced by many age groups, yet it remains unnoticed by many affected individuals due to its hidden nature (Samur et al., 2013). Most importantly, it is associated with poorer mental health and is implicated in various psychological disorders, such as depression (Honkalampi et al., 2000), binge-eating disorders (Carano et al., 2012) and substance-abuse (Gratz & Tull, 2010), all of which could further potentially instigate suicidal ideation (Hemming et al., 2019). Thus, this necessitates the development of relevant strategies to address this issue. Current literature has explored the relationship between alexithymia, different coping styles and meditation, or mindfulness; however, limited research exists concerning alexithymia in relation to avoidant and approach (adaptive) coping, and there is no research investigating the association of meditation practice with maladaptive and adaptive coping in alexithymic individuals. The present study addresses this gap by investigating the relationship of alexithymia and meditation experience (years, frequency and minutes of meditation) with maladaptive and adaptive coping behaviours, obtained from an adult sample. This will assist in understanding how meditation practice relates to the two distinct styles of coping; avoidant coping and approach coping, and how it may potentially influence alexithymia.

1.1 Alexithymia and Types of Alexithymia

Alexithymia is a multidimensional construct, introduced by Sifneos (1973), that describes cognitive and affective deficits. Cognitive deficits are characterised by difficulties in comprehending and distinguishing one's feelings from bodily sensations of emotional arousal (Sifneos, 1973; Bermond et al., 2007; Tominaga et al., 2014). In other words, alexithymic individuals struggle to understand the link between emotions and bodily states, such as the

emotional-physiological expressions of being "heartbroken", having "cold feet" (Nummenmaa et al., 2014), or "butterflies in my stomach". Affective deficits are characterised by difficulties in fantasizing and emotionally connecting with inner experiences (Sifneos, 1973; Bermond et al., 2007; Tominaga et al., 2014).

Freyberger (1977) categorised alexithymia into two types: primary (trait) alexithymia and secondary (state) alexithymia. Primary alexithymia is regarded as a stable personality trait or dispositional factor (Lesser, 1981), which may develop over time as a consequence of childhood trauma (Krystal, 1979), negative interactions with primary caregivers (Wearden et al., 2003) or genetic influences (Kano et al., 2012). Hence, primary alexithymia is a developmental phenomenon, emerging throughout childhood and early adult years (Messina et al., 2014; Allen & Heaton, 2010). The findings of many authors suggest that alexithymia is usually continuous in nature. For instance, Salminen et al. (1994) administered the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20; Bagby et al., 1994b) to assess alexithymia at the time of set up and again 1 year later. They revealed that although there was a decrease in psychological stress, there was no significant difference in alexithymia scores (Salminen et al., 1994). For similar reasons, several literatures have regarded alexithymia as a comparatively stable and dimensional personality trait (de Gucht, 2003; Mikolajczak & Luminet, 2006; Parker et al., 2008).

In contrast, secondary alexithymia occurs after childhood, as a consequence of psychological stress, chronic disease or neurological trauma (e.g. stroke) (Taylor et al., 1997; Messina et al., 2014). Some studies have expanded on this and suggested that alexithymia may develop in response to overwhelming stress, so that individuals are able to avoid experiencing unendurable emotions (Krystal, 1982; Zeitlin et al., 1993). Moreover, some authors have claimed to have found a decrease in alexithymia scores in relation to improved clinical symptomatology,

across various clinical groups such as substance use disorders (De Haan et al., 2012), along with other mental disorders (Fukunshi et al., 1997). As such, this evidence suggests that alexithymia can also be secondary to increased distress associated with mental disorders.

However, for the purpose of this study, alexithymia will be regarded as a trait or dispositional factor, considering the relevant measure used in this study, TAS-20, is a continuous measure of alexithymia severity and regards alexithymia as a multidimensional personality trait (Bagby et al., 1994a, b).

1.2 Alexithymia, Interpersonal Relationships and Mental Health

A recent study has revealed that some individuals suffering from alexithymia may contradict the defined characteristics as they could be experiencing chronic dysphoria or sudden outbursts of crying or rage (Goerlich, 2018). However, thorough interviewing of the individual generally reveals their incapability to describe their feelings, which is a core feature of alexithymia, especially since they often appear confused when asked to recount the specifics of feelings (Taylor et al., 1997, p. 29). In other words, alexithymic individuals display a noticeable dysfunction in their emotional responsiveness, social attachment and interpersonal relationships (Meganck et al., 2009; Kooiman et al., 2000).

Furthermore, individuals suffering from alexithymia often experience difficulty in discerning and appreciating other people's emotions, leading to apathetic and futile emotional responding (FeldmanHall et al., 2013; Darrow & Follette, 2014). This is eventually followed by problems in maintaining relationships, considering those involved with alexithymic individuals struggle to understand them in many ways (FeldmanHall et al., 2013; Darrow & Follette, 2014). As a result, individuals with high levels of alexithymia are associated with a reduction in seeking

psychosocial support (Kooiman et al., 2000; Tominaga et al., 2014), subsequently causing significant psychological distress.

Alexithymia has repeatedly been shown to be associated with a decline in positive mental health and has shown associations with a number of psychological conditions, particularly depression (Honkalampi et al., 2000), and alexithymia is often followed by suicidal ideation (Izci et al., 2015). Several studies have claimed that alexithymia and depression are two different disorders, but they are closely related constructs (Hintikka et al., 2001; Parker et al., 1991; Marchesi et al., 2000). In support of this, two studies in particular found moderate correlations between alexithymia and depression (Parker et al., 1991; Li et al., 2015). While, other studies also revealed that alexithymia may be a significant predictor of depression (Gilanifar & Delavar, 2016; Günther et al., 2016). Furthermore, several studies have revealed a strong association between alexithymia and suicidal ideation (Hintikka et al., 2004; Sayar et al., 2003) and this association is also present in a variety of clinical samples, especially in those suffering from depression (Izci et al., 2015).

1.3 Measuring Alexithymia

Bermond et al. (2015) identified multiple alexithymia measures, some of which included the Rorschach Alexithymia Scale (RAS; Porcelli & Mihura, 2010), Psychological Treatment Inventory - Alexithymia Scale (PTI-AS; Gori et al., 2012), Alexithymia Observation Scale for Children (AOSC; Fukunishi et al., 1998) and the Observation Alexithymia Scale (OAS; Haviland et al., 2000). Studies that have administered some of these measures have often discovered inconsistent findings in terms of their research, due to problems concerning their concurrent validities (Bermond et al., 2015). In other words, many of these scales were found to measure different domains of the alexithymia construct (Bermond et al., 2015). It is also important to note

that some of these measures are usually difficult to be understood by non-professionals due to technical language and often require the expertise of clinical professionals, further weakening the relevant studies' methodologies and thus limiting their use (Bermond et al., 2015). Compared to other measures the OAS (Haviland et al., 2000) is more widely used as it uses ordinary language that can be understood by both non-professionals and professionals (Bermond et al., 2015). However, many items of the OAS (Haviland et al., 2000) may be unreliable, as it is an observer-rated measure of alexithymia. In other words, it obtains information through close relations of the patient being assessed and is therefore more predisposed to misspecifications and unreliable assessments of alexithymia (McGillivray, 2015).

By comparison, the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) presents adequate reliability and validity (Bermond et al., 2015). Furthermore, it can be used by non-professionals and does not require expertise, due to its ordinary language (Bermond et al., 2015). Additionally, several studies have also shown that the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) is significantly correlated with alexithymia and this is evident in various populations across the globe (Maroti et al., 2018; Colombarolli et al., 2019; Li et al., 2015). More importantly, this scale specifically measures trait alexithymia, which is the main focus of this study. Therefore, the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) is an appropriate scale for measuring alexithymia in this study.

1.4 Alexithymia and Coping

Coping refers to the cognitive and behavioural attempts of an individual, in order to manage the physical, emotional and psychological burden when confronted with stressful life events (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Synder & Dinoff, 1999). Based on past literature, coping has been categorised into three comprehensive higher order functioning types: problem-focused or task-oriented coping, emotion-focused coping, and avoidance-focused coping (Krohne, 1993;

Parker & Endler, 1996). Problem-focused coping refers to when an individual consciously carries out a behaviour with the intention to gain information, in order to reduce stressful demands by dealing with the event or problem itself (Stone, 2005; Besharat, 2010). Examples of problem-focused coping strategies include positive reframing, using emotional support or actively seeking out information, consequently helping to manage or solve the problem at hand (Carroll, 2013). Problem-focused coping suggests positive affect and an adaptive way of coping, as it increases the individual's awareness, knowledge, and various behavioural and cognitive coping options (Lovallo, 1997). Emotion-focused coping refers to when an individual consciously carries out a behaviour with the intention to manage or reduce their negative emotions (e.g. fear, anxiety, aggression, depression, humiliation), which have occurred in response to a stressful situation (Stone, 2005; Besharat, 2010). Examples of emotion-focused coping may include strategies such as avoidance and denial (Synder & Dinoff, 1999; Stanton et al., 1994). Avoidance-focused coping refers to when an individual consciously carries out a behaviour with the intention to disengage from a stressful situation (e.g. distraction or social diversion) (Krohne, 1993; Parker et al., 1998). As such, emotion- and avoidance-focused coping strategies are similar, since they both suggest negative affect and a maladaptive way of coping (Higgins & Endler, 1995). On the other hand, problem-focused coping and approach-focused coping strategies are similar, since they both suggest positive affect and an adaptive way of coping (Higgins & Endler, 1995; Baker & Berenbaum, 2007).

Previous research has revealed that emotion-focused coping strategies usually result in negative consequences on mental health, such as anxiety, depression and substance-abuse, which is why it is generally regarded as a form of maladaptive coping (Higgins & Endler, 1995; Jensen et al., 1991; Carver et al., 1989). Similar to the emotion-focused coping strategy, Higgins and

Endler (1995) further revealed that avoidance-focused coping could also be generally regarded as a maladaptive coping strategy, because it has been found that avoiding stress by engaging in activities that are distracting, often leads to psychosomatic symptoms. As opposed to emotion-and avoidance-focused coping, problem-focused coping was deemed more effective in lessening the impact of stressful life events on an individual's mental and physical health, which is why it is generally regarded as a form of adaptive coping (Higgins & Endler, 1995; Baker & Berenbaum, 2007).

Past studies, while limited, have empirically examined the relationships between alexithymia and coping. For instance, Vingerhoets et al. (1995) study, administered the selfreport Amsterdam Alexithymia Scale (AAS; Bermond et al., 1999) and the dispositional Ways of Coping Checklist (WCCL; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984) to 131 female participants, aged 16-59 years. Their main findings revealed that alexithymia was negatively associated with 'seeking social support' and 'planful/rational actions' (Vingerhoets et al., 1995). Thus, suggesting that alexithymia is negatively related to problem-focused or adaptive coping (Vingerhoets et al., 1995). They further revealed that alexithymia was positively associated with 'distancing', thus suggesting that alexithymic individuals have a positive relationship with emotion- and avoidance-focused coping or maladaptive coping (Vingerhoets et al., 1995). These findings are supported by Besharat's (2010) study, reporting that non-alexithymic individuals scored significantly higher on problem-focused coping than low and high-alexithymic individuals. However, high-alexithymic individuals scored significantly higher on emotion-focused coping than low and non-alexithymic individuals. Likewise, for avoidance-focused coping, both high and low-alexithymic individuals had higher scores for this particular coping strategy than nonalexithymic individuals (Besharat, 2010).

Similar findings were reported in Parker and colleagues' (1998) study, administering the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) and the Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations (CISS; Endler & Parker, 1990) to 83 undergraduate students (Parker et al., 1998). Their results revealed that high-alexithymic individuals were significantly less attentive towards problem-focused coping and significantly more attentive towards distraction activities (i.e. watching television) (Parker et al., 1998). Thus, suggesting that high-alexithymic individuals most often apply emotion- and avoidance-focused coping or maladaptive coping (Parker et al., 1998). The researchers further proposed that these results strongly indicated that high-alexithymic individuals have lower scope to reflect upon their stressful situations and lack the ability to use emotions in a positive manner to guide their behaviour, or in other words, they are not able to apply problem-focused coping strategies (Parker et al., 1998). Fortune et al. (2002) expanded on previous findings by reporting that alexithymia, in conjunction with emotion- and avoidance-focused coping significantly caused increased levels of psychological distress, such as worrying, anxiety and depression.

In the context of this study, coping is alternatively categorised into two types: approach coping and avoidant coping, considering they are particularly relevant to the coping measure used in this study: Brief Coping Orientation To Problems Experienced Inventory (Brief-COPE; Carver, 1997). Also, it is important to note that emotion-focused coping was not included in this study, as it is a very similar coping strategy to avoidant coping (Vingerhoets et al., 1995; Fortune et al., 2002). As such, throughout this study, the approach coping scale will specifically measure problem-focused coping strategies which is a form of adaptive coping, whereas the avoidant coping scale will simultaneously measure both emotion- and avoidance-focused coping strategies which are a form of maladaptive coping. Lastly, in terms of the alexithymia and coping constructs, it is necessary to understand that there is no research that has directly investigated the

relationship between the TAS-20 (alexithymia) (Bagby et al., 1994b) and Brief-COPE (approach and avoidant coping) (Carver, 1997). For this reason, the Brief-COPE (Carver, 1997) is a suitable scale for measuring coping strategies in this study.

1.5 Alexithymia and Mindfulness Meditation

Mindfulness meditation is increasingly being recognised to have a significant and positive influence on mental health and has been an important phenomenon in both clinical and experimental areas (Lykins & Baer, 2009). Mindfulness is a mental state and an intervention where one acceptingly and non-judgmentally focusses their attention on the present moment (Kabat-Zinn, 1990; Hofmann et al., 2010). Bishop et al. (2004) described mindfulness as the ability to focus attention for a sustained period of time, whilst maintaining a curious attitude surrounding openness and acceptance, in order to gently observe inner processes, such as thoughts, feelings and sensations. One of the major effects of mindfulness, as a therapeutic technique, is emotional regulation which is achieved by observing the inner processes without being overwhelmed, avoiding, suppressing or taking action on them (Gilbert et al., 2011). In saying this, mindfulness meditation is a practice designed to increase the aforementioned mindfulness mental state itself (Hudlicka, 2013). A study by Kabat-Zinn (2003) suggests that regular practice of mindfulness meditation is positively associated with physiological-emotional control, and thus reduced suffering and improved well-being. As such, a progressively growing empirical literature supports the efficacy of various mindfulness and acceptance-based interventions which are similar to mindfulness meditation (e.g. Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT; Segal et al., 2002)), across diverse populations suffering from different psychological conditions, including alexithymia (Baer, 2003; Robins & Chapman, 2004; Bornemann & Singer, 2017).

Currently, there are only a few studies that have investigated the relationship between alexithymia and mindfulness meditation. De La Fuente Arias and colleagues (2010), assessed this relationship by administering the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) and the meditation-flow program (Franco, 2009) to a group of students, over a time-span of 10 weeks. At the end of 10 weeks, they found a significant reduction in alexithymia scores, along with improved emotional identification and differentiation, which subsequently led to more effective emotional self-regulation (De La Fuente Arias et al., 2010). This supports Martín-Asuero and García de La Banda's (2007) claim that continued practice of mindfulness meditation in the long-term does in fact help with emotional self-regulation which is a deficit in alexithymia, whilst also providing clarity of emotional states.

Similar findings were reported in Santarnecchi and colleagues' (2014) study, in which they administered the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) and the Mindfulness Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS; Brown & Ryan, 2003) to a group of students, over a time-span of 8 weeks. At the end of 8 weeks of practising mindfulness meditation, there was a significant decrease in alexithymia levels (Santarnecchi et al., 2014). The authors further claimed that mindfulness improved the mental state of alexithymic individuals, as it increased the self-awareness of their own emotions and feelings, considering these are some of the core mechanisms affected when suffering from alexithymia (Santarnecchi et al., 2014). Thus, indicating a decrease in alexithymia. These findings are comparable to a recent study by Aaron and colleagues (2020), in which they administered the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) and a mindfulness-based body scan meditation intervention to 76 undergraduate students. They reported findings of greater emotional awareness after they underwent a brief mindfulness-based body scan meditation (Aaron et al., 2020).

Moreover, several articles have shown that mindfulness meditation has improved interoceptive accuracy, which is another major characteristic of alexithymia (Aaron et al., 2020; Erns et al., 2013; Longarzo et al., 2015). Interoceptive accuracy refers to the ability to accurately detect internal physiological sensations within one's body (Erns et al., 2013; Longarzo et al., 2015). This ability has been found to be pivotal in modulating the subjective emotional states of alexithymic individuals (Damasio, 2003; Herbert & Pallatos, 2012). Aaron et al. (2020) noted that individuals who meditated showed significant increases in interoceptive accuracy. Thus, indicating a possible decrease in alexithymia.

Overall, it is evident that practicing mindfulness meditation certainly has some noticeable positive influences on individuals suffering from alexithymia, such as increased emotional awareness, improved emotional self-regulation and interoceptive accuracy.

1.6 Aims and Hypotheses of the Present Study

The present study included three main aims. The first aim was to determine the relationship of alexithymia with two distinct styles of coping (avoidant and approach). However, the aforementioned literatures (Vingerhoets et al., 1995; Besharat, 2010; Parker et al., 1998; Fortune et al., 2002) focused on three types of coping styles: problem-, emotion- and avoidance-focused coping and comparatively indicated that alexithymia was positively associated with emotion- and avoidance-focused coping strategies, and negatively associated with problem-focused coping strategies. As such, while there is evidence explaining the direct relationship of problem-, emotion- and avoidance-focused coping with alexithymia, there is no evidence explaining the direct relationship of approach-focused coping with alexithymia, given that it is similar to problem-focused coping. This provided theoretical motivation to explore whether alexithymia also had a negative relationship with approach-focused coping, as it did with

problem-focused coping. The second aim was to test the association of meditation practice with reduced maladaptive (avoidant) coping and increased adaptive (approach) coping. Kabat-Zinn (2003) reported that mindfulness meditation was positively associated with physiologicalemotional control, and thus reduced suffering and improved well-being. This provided theoretical motivation to explore whether meditation practice particularly reduced maladaptive or avoidant coping strategies, whilst promoting adaptive or approach coping strategies in those suffering from alexithymia. Following this, the third aim was to examine whether meditation is related to coping by reducing alexithymia. Previous studies have found associations between alexithymia and various types of coping strategies (Vingerhoets et al., 1995; Besharat, 2010; Parker et al., 1998; Fortune et al., 2002), as well as between alexithymia and mindfulness meditation (De La Fuente Arias et al., 2010; Santarnecchi et al., 2014; Aaron et al., 2020). However, there are no studies that have examined the possibility of meditation being indirectly related to the two distinct styles of coping relevant to this study, by reducing alexithymia. This provided theoretical motivation to explore how meditation practice was associated with coping, through the reduction of alexithymia.

Based on previous research and the proposed aims, the following hypotheses were formulated. Hypothesis 1 is that alexithymia is associated with higher avoidant coping and lower approach coping. Hypothesis 2 is that meditation experience is associated with lower avoidant coping and with higher approach coping. Hypothesis 3 is that meditation experience is associated with lower alexithymia. Lastly, considering mindfulness meditation is associated with improved emotional self-regulation and reduced alexithymia scores, the final hypothesis (Hypothesis 4) is that meditation experience will be associated with lower avoidance coping and higher approach coping, indirectly through alexithymia.

Method

2.1 Participants

The study obtained a convenience sample of 189 participants, of which 59 withdrew early, without completing all questionnaires. Upon exclusion of the incomplete responses, the final sample consisted of 130 participants, including 83 females (63.8%), 45 males (34.6%) and 1 who did not specify (.8%). Participants' age range was between 19 and 65 years (M = 31.37, SD = 11.77), with 5 who did not specify their age. Participants' highest level of formal education varied from a certain number of years completed in high school (N = 5), graduated high school from Year 12 or 13 (N = 30), completing TAFE or another technical diploma (N = 12), completing their undergraduate degree (N = 49) or completing their postgraduate degree (N = 33), and 1 who did not specify. Majority of participants from the final sample reported English as their first language (N = 68, 52.3%), whilst the remaining 46.2% reported Marathi (N = 32), Hindi (N = 12), Punjabi (N = 3), Kannada (N = 2), and there was 1 participant each with other Asian and European languages, and 2 who did not specify. Participants from the final sample comprised of various nationalities, but the two most common nationalities were Indian (N = 58, 44.6%) and Australian (N = 53, 40.8%).

2.2 Procedure

The study received approval by The Human Research Ethics Sub-Committee from the School of Psychology at the University of Adelaide. Participants were recruited from the University of Adelaide first-year onwards Psychology pool, and social media including Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn and WhatsApp. Participants completed an online survey via Qualtrics and were informed that participation in the study was voluntary and of their right to withdraw their participation at any time. Participants were also informed that their identity would

be kept anonymous, with the obtained data being non-identifiable throughout the whole research process. The eligibility criteria for this study required participants to be fluent in English and be aged between 19 and 65 years. This was confirmed by the student researcher and principal investigator.

The survey completion time was approximately 10-15 minutes. Once participants' voluntary consent was obtained to take part in the study, they were requested to report their demographic information (age, gender, first language, country of birth, country of residence, highest education level, current education status) and complete self-report questionnaires that measured meditation experience, alexithymia and two types of coping styles; approach (adaptive/positive coping) and avoidant (maladaptive/negative coping).

2.3 Measures

2.3.1 Meditation Experience Questions

Meditation experience was obtained through a brief but comprehensive questionnaire. The meditation experience questions assessed four aspects of meditation: years of meditation practice, minutes of meditation sessions, frequency of meditation and type of meditation. Years of meditation was measured as a categorical variable, e.g. 'How long have you practiced meditation' with response options ranging from 'Never' to '6+ years'. Minutes of meditation was measured as a continuous variable. Likewise, frequency of meditation was also measured as a continuous variable by identifying the number of meditation sessions per week. Type of meditation was measured as a categorical variable: e.g. 'Mindfulness meditation', 'Concentrative meditation', etc.

2.3.2 Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20; Bagby et al., 1994b)

The TAS-20 is a 20-item, validated self-report assessment of alexithymia (Bagby et al., 1994a). It is made up of three sub-scales: Difficulty Identifying Feelings (DIF), Difficulty Describing Feelings (DDF) and Externally-Oriented Thinking (EOT). Each sub-scale yields a score, which is then summed to obtain a total alexithymia score, of which higher scores indicate higher levels of alexithymia (Eiden, 1998). Items are rated on a 5-point Likert-type response format, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), allowing participants to communicate whether or not they can comprehend their emotional state, e.g. "I am often confused about what emotion <math>I am feeling". The TAS-20 demonstrates good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = .81) and test-retest reliability (r = .77) (Bagby et al., 1994b). Another study by Bagby and colleagues also demonstrated adequate levels of convergent validity with other measures of personality (e.g. NEO Personality Inventory), as well as concurrent validity based on the ratings of alexithymia, which were given by external observers (Bagby et al., 1994a).

2.3.3 Brief Coping Orientation To Problems Experienced Inventory (Brief-COPE; Carver, Brief)

The Brief-COPE is a 28-item, validated self-report questionnaire that has been theoretically designed to measure adaptive and maladaptive ways of coping, associated with stressful life circumstances. The scale addresses two types of coping styles: Approach Coping and Avoidant Coping, eventually determining one's primary coping style from the two types. Additionally, items in the scale are categorized in the following sub-scales: Self-distraction, Active coping, Denial, Substance use, Use of emotional support, Use of instrumental support, Behavioural disengagement, Venting, Positive reframing, Planning, Humour, Acceptance, Religion and Self-blame, with two survey items assessing each of the 14 sub-scales. Items are

rated on a 4-point Likert-type response format, ranging from 1 (*I haven't been doing this at all*) to 4 (*I've been doing this a lot*), allowing participants to communicate their coping strategies, e.g. "*I've been turning to work or other activities to take my mind off things*". A validation study on the Brief-COPE, by Hagan and colleagues demonstrated an overall acceptable internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = .56) across the 14 sub-scales, with some sub-scales, e.g. Acceptance, presenting higher internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = .81) (Hagan et al., 2017). The Brief-COPE correlated significantly with other psychological measures of distress, e.g. Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), either with the anxiety or depression subscale, or both (Hagan et al., 2017).

In the present study the Brief-COPE items were grouped according to Avoidant (12 items) and Approach Coping (12 items). The Humour and Religion sub-scales were not included in the data analysis process as they are neither avoidance or approach coping.

Internal consistency for both the Avoidant Coping (Cronbach's alpha = .82) and Approach Coping (Cronbach's alpha = .82) sub-scales was high.

2.4 Design and Statistical Analysis

IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics 26 was used to perform data analysis. Descriptive statistics were first obtained for the age and gender variables, and TAS-20 and Brief-COPE sub-scales, along with a total value for the TAS-20 scale. Following this, Pearson's correlations were conducted to test the proposed hypotheses, and one-way ANOVAs were used for significance testing for meditation experience categories, and TAS-20 variables, and Brief-COPE variables. Finally, mediation analysis was planned using PROCESS 2.16.1 to assess whether there is an indirect relationship between Meditation, Alexithymia and Coping Styles.

Results

3.1 Preliminary Data

Prior to analysis, data were screened for missing values, outliers, linearity and normality. Visual inspection of histograms and skew, and analysis of Shapiro-Wilk's test directed the assumptions of normality. Altogether, they revealed that the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b) Total and its sub-scales, DIF and DDF did not deviate too far from being normally distributed, whereas the EOT was slightly skewed, as the Shapiro-Wilk statistic indicated that the assumption of normality was violated (p > .05). For the Brief-COPE (Carver, 1997) sub-scales, visual inspection of histograms and skew for Avoidant Coping showed that it was slightly skewed, however based on the Shapiro-Wilk statistic (p < 0.05) and a large sample size (N = 130), this data was considered appropriate for parametric tests (i.e. Shapiro-Wilk test) (Saculinggan & Balase, 2013). Regarding Approach Coping, the data did not deviate too far from being normally distributed based on visual inspection of histograms and skew (Saculinggan & Balase, 2013).

Furthermore, visual inspection of scatterplots determined that there were overall linear relationships between measures of the TAS-20 Total, Avoidant Coping and Approach Coping.

Although, it is important to note that the linear relationship was noticeably stronger between TAS-20 Total and Avoidant Coping, than it was between TAS-20 Total and Approach Coping.

Outliers were assessed using the labelling rule, in which the interquartile range is multiplied by 1.5 and either added to the upper quartile or subtracted from the lower quartile (Hoaglin & Iglewicz, 1987; Tukey, 1977). Scores that are found to be either above the upper value or below the lower value are then considered outliers (Hoaglin & Iglewicz, 1987; Tukey, 1977). The upper value of Avoidant Coping, as determined by the labelling rule was 40. As such, 2 outliers were found for Avoidant Coping (46 and 44). Both values were changed to 40, as they

did not deviate too far from a normal distribution while still being considered extreme values in the upper quartile. The upper value of Approach Coping was 47.4 and the lower value was 14.4. As such, 1 outlier was found (48) in the upper quartile range and 3 outliers were found in the lower quartile range (12, 12 and 14), for Approach Coping. The 48 value was changed to 47.4 and the 12, 12, and 14 values were all changed to 14.4. In terms of the TAS-20 Total, DDF, DIF and EOT, no outliers were found for these variables.

3.2 Descriptive Analyses

Table 1 displays the number of participants and percentages in each category of meditation experience. It is necessary to note that the variables, including minutes of meditation and frequency of meditation were converted from continuous variables to categorical variables, used in previous research (Proeve, 2020). Majority of the participants had not meditated (43.1%) or had meditated less than 1 year (30.8%). Additionally, participants who meditated, mostly meditated from 1-20 minutes (31.5%). Also, meditating participants most frequently meditated less than once a month (21.5%). Lastly, the most common type of meditation practice used was mindfulness meditation (37.7%).

Table 1Frequency and percentages of participants in each category of meditation experience (Years of Meditation, Minutes of Meditation Session, Frequency of Meditation and Type of Meditation) (N = 130)

Variable	N	%					
Tried meditation							
Yes	60	46.2					
No	70	53.8					
Years of meditation							
Does not meditate	56	43.1					
Less than 1 year	40	30.8					
1-5 years	23	17.7					
6+ years	10	7.7					
Missing	1	0.8					
Minutes of meditation	Minutes of meditation						
Does not meditate	64	49.2					
1 – 20 minutes	41	31.5					
21+ minutes	17	13.1					
Missing	8	6.2					

Frequency of meditation

	Does not meditate	61	46.9
	Less than 1 time per month	28	21.5
	Regular meditation	13	10.0
	Regular frequent meditation	28	21.5
Туре	e of meditation practice		
	Does not meditate	38	29.2
	Mindfulness meditation	49	37.7
	Concentrative meditation	15	11.5
	Centering prayer	6	4.6
	Christian meditation	1	0.8
	Other	21	16.2

Note. N = Sample Size, % = Percentage of Sample

As shown in Table 2, the TAS-20 Total mean of 49.03 shows a high score but it is within the non-alexithymic range (equal to or less than 51) (Eiden, 1998). Overall, there was acceptable internal consistency across the measures used, with the exception of the EOT measure, as it had low internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = .55). Table 2 displays descriptive statistics for the alexithymia and coping measures used in the present study.

Table 2Internal Consistency, Means, Standard Deviations and Confidence Intervals for Measures of Alexithymia and Coping (N = 130)

				95% Confidence Interval for Mea	
Measures	α	Mean	SD	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
DIF	.86	16.88	6.70	15.73	18.08
DDF	.73	13.04	4.41	12.28	13.82
ЕОТ	.55	19.11	4.45	18.38	19.87
TAS-20 Total	.85	49.03	12.56	46.85	51.19
Avoidant Coping	.82	23.73	6.36	22.65	24.83
Approach Coping	.82	30.97	6.35	29.85	32.10

Note. DIF = Difficulty Identifying Feelings, DDF = Difficulty Describing Feelings, EOT =

Externally-Oriented Thinking, TAS-20 Total = Total Score of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia

Scale

Independent samples t-tests were conducted to assess whether there were statistically significant differences between comparing the means of males (N = 45) and females (N = 83), across the measures used in the present study. The results indicated that there were non-significant differences between males and females on the alexithymia measures: DIF, DDF, EOT, TAS-20 Total, and the coping measures: Avoidant Coping and Approach Coping (shown in Appendix A).

Age was significantly and negatively correlated with the DIF (r = -.24), DDF (r = -.25), TAS-20 Total (r = -.18), Avoidant Coping (r = -.31) and Approach Coping (r = -.22); however the EOT (r = .10) showed a non-significant and positive correlation with age.

One-way ANOVA for the level of education across measures showed a significant difference overall, but there was no clear difference between particular education groups (shown in Appendix A).

3.3 Tests of Hypothesis 1: Bivariate Relationships

As anticipated, alexithymia was significantly and positively correlated with avoidant coping (r = .51), indicating a large effect size, but not correlated with approach coping (r = .04), suggesting that it was non-significant and almost unrelatable. In other words, as proposed by Hypothesis 1, alexithymia was associated with higher avoidant coping but not with lower approach coping. Thus, the obtained results partially support Hypothesis 1. Table 3 shows the correlations between alexithymia and the two styles of coping, as shown by the relevant measures of alexithymia, including DIF, DDF, EOT and TAS-20 Total, and the relevant measures of coping from the Brief-COPE, including Avoidant Coping and Approach Coping.

Table 3Summary of Correlations for Scores on DIF, DDF, EOT, TAS-20 Total, Avoidant Coping and Approach Coping (N = 130)

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. DIF						
2. DDF	.72**					
3. EOT	.26**	.40**				
4. TAS-20 Total	.88**	.88**	.63**			
5. Avoidant Coping	.60**	.47**	.08	.51**		
6. Approach Coping	.07	03	18*	04	.26**	

Note. DIF = Difficulty Identifying Feelings, DDF = Difficulty Describing Feelings, EOT =

Externally-Oriented Thinking, TAS-20 Total = Total Score of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia

Scale

*p<0.05 **p<0.01

3.4 Tests of Hypothesis 2: Meditation Experience with Coping Measures

Participants who had meditated for 6 years and for 10 years or more were combined into one category (6+ years) due to the limited number of meditators within each group. Also, the effect sizes in the present study are based on the benchmarks suggested by Cohen et al. (2001). For instance, it is suggested that an eta-squared of \geq .01 is reflective of a small effect size, an eta-squared of \geq .06 indicates a medium effect size and an eta-squared of \geq .14 reflects a large effect size (Cohen et al., 2001).

For avoidant coping, one-way ANOVA showed a marginal but significant effect for years of meditation, F(3, 125) = 2.72, $\eta^2 = .06$, p = .05, however post-hoc comparisons (Tukey's HSD) showed non-significant differences between groups.

Contrary to years of meditation, a one-way ANOVA showed a statistically significant effect for minutes of meditation, F(2, 127) = 5.34, $\eta^2 = .08$, p = .01, with a medium effect size, as demonstrated by η^2 . This suggested that as minutes of meditation sessions increased, avoidant coping decreased. As such, the Tukey's HSD showed significant differences between those who did not meditate, compared with those who meditated for more than 20 minutes. Those who did not meditate obtained higher scores on avoidant coping, but not significantly higher than those who meditated for *less than 20 minutes*, as opposed to those who meditated for more than 20 minutes and obtained significantly lower scores on avoidant coping. Table 4 shows the means and standard deviations for minutes of meditation and avoidant coping.

However, a one-way ANOVA showed a non-significant effect for frequency of meditation, F(3, 126) = .84, $\eta^2 = .02$, p = .48, suggesting that frequency of meditation does not necessarily influence avoidant coping.

Table 4 *Means, Standard Deviations and 95% Confidence Intervals for Minutes of Meditation and Avoidant Coping (N = 130)*

			95% Confidence Interval for Mean		
Minutes of Meditation	Mean	SD	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
No meditation	24.43	6.07	22.95	25.91	
Less than 20 minutes	24.62	6.88	22.48	26.76	
20+ minutes	19.71	4.72	17.56	21.86	
Total	23.73	6.36	22.63	24.83	

Concerning approach coping, one-way ANOVA showed non-significant effects for years of meditation, F(3, 126) = 1.15, $\eta^2 = .03$, p = .33 and frequency of meditation, F(3, 126) = .97, $\eta^2 = .02$, p = .41.

However, a one-way ANOVA showed an overall significant effect for minutes of meditation, F(2, 127) = 3.60, $\eta^2 = .05$, p = .03 on approach coping, with a medium effect size. However, Tukey's HSD showed that there were no significant differences between particular groups for minutes of meditation and that the direction was unclear. For instance, there was a small difference between those who did not meditate (M = 30.23, SD = 6.60) and those who meditated for *less than 20 minutes* (M = 33.03, SD = 5.60), but this difference was larger between the *less than 20 minutes* group and those who meditated for more than 20 minutes (M = 29.24, SD = 6.16). Thus, suggesting that meditation experience is related to approach coping in some way but the direction remains unclear.

The obtained results partially support Hypothesis 2, as meditation experience (minutes of meditation) is significantly associated with lower avoidant coping, but not as much with higher approach coping in particular. However, there is a slight association present between meditation experience (minutes of meditation) and approach coping in general but the direction is not clear.

3.5 Tests of Hypothesis 3: Meditation Experience with Alexithymia

For the DIF sub-scale, a one-way ANOVA showed a non-significant effect for years of meditation, F(3, 125) = 1.92, $\eta^2 = .04$, p = .13, minutes of meditation, F(2, 127) = 2.21, $\eta^2 = .03$, p = .11 and frequency of meditation, F(3, 126) = 1.66, $\eta^2 = .04$, p = .18.

A one-way ANOVA showed that as the years of meditation increased, the scores for the DDF decreased, F(3, 125) = 2.98, $\eta^2 = .07$, p = .03, as demonstrated by the medium effect size. Tukey's HSD identified statistically significant differences on the DDF, between those who meditated for *less than 1 year* (M = 13.63, SD = 3.87) and those who meditated for 6 or more years (M = 10.10, SD = 4.42).

However, a one-way ANOVA for minutes of meditation, F(2, 127) = 2.02, $\eta^2 = .03$, p = .14 and frequency of meditation, F(3, 126) = 1.97, $\eta^2 = .05$, p = .12, both showed non-significant effects overall on the DDF sub-scale.

A one-way ANOVA revealed that with greater years of meditation, there was a decrease in the EOT sub-scale, F(3, 125) = 2.99, $\eta^2 = .07$, p = .03, as demonstrated by the medium effect size. Tukey's HSD showed a statistically significant difference on the EOT, particularly between those who meditated for *less than 1 year* (M = 20.43, SD = 4.38) and those who meditated for more than 6 years (M = 16.70, SD = 3.95).

However, one-way ANOVA for minutes of meditation, F(2, 127) = .28, $\eta^2 = .00$, p = .76 and frequency of meditation, F(3, 126) = .53, $\eta^2 = .01$, p = .66, both showed non-significant effects on the EOT sub-scale.

Following this, the relationship of meditation experience with the TAS-20 Total was measured. One-way ANOVA results showed that as the years of meditation increased, the overall TAS-20 Total scores decreased, F(3, 125) = 3.71, $\eta^2 = .08$, p = .01, as demonstrated by the medium effect size. Post-hoc comparisons (Tukey's HSD) identified a statistically significant difference on the TAS-20 Total, particularly between those who meditated for *less than 1 year* and those who meditated for more than 6 years. Table 5 shows the means and standard deviations for years of meditation and TAS-20 Total.

However, one-way ANOVA for minutes of meditation, F(2, 127) = 1.93, $\eta^2 = .03$, p = .15 and frequency of meditation, F(3, 126) = 1.92, $\eta^2 = .04$, p = .15, both showed non-significant effects on the TAS-20 Total.

Therefore, the obtained results overall indicated that meditation experience (years of meditation) was most associated with a decrease in alexithymia scores and thus with lower alexithymia. Hence, Hypothesis 3 was partially supported.

Table 5Means, Standard Deviations and 95% Confidence Intervals for Years of Meditation and TAS-20

Total (N = 129)

			95% Confidence Interval for Mean	
Years of Meditation	Mean	SD	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
Does not meditate	50.66	13.48	47.05	54.27
Less than 1 year	51.68	11.74	47.92	55.43
1-5 years	44.43	10.63	39.84	49.03
6+ years	40.40	9.44	33.65	47.15
Total	49.07	12.60	46.87	51.26

3.6 Tests of Hypothesis 4: Indirect Effects

In terms of a mediation analysis, the main preconditions for testing mediation, which assumed that there would be a significant correlational relationship between alexithymia and coping, meditation and coping, and alexithymia and meditation, were not always met. In other words, there was a significant correlation between meditation experience and lower avoidant coping but meditation experience overall was not very much related to approach coping.

Additionally, meditation experience did not have significant correlations with alexithymia, and thus a mediation effect was not tested. Therefore, this meant that the correlations overall between the three relevant constructs were not sufficiently significant or correlated to conduct a mediation analysis. Therefore, Hypothesis 4, which stated that meditation experience will be associated with lower avoidance coping and higher approach coping, indirectly through alexithymia, was not tested.

Discussion

4.1 Overview

The primary purpose of this research was to investigate how alexithymia and meditation practice were related to the two distinct styles of coping; Approach Coping and Avoidant Coping. Specifically, the study wanted to test whether meditation practice was associated with a decrease in alexithymia, and whether meditation experience (years, frequency and minutes of meditation) decreased avoidant coping and increased approach coping by subsequently reducing levels of alexithymia. In terms of the first aim, it was found that alexithymia showed a significant and positive relationship with avoidant coping, but alexithymia was almost unrelated with approach coping. In terms of the second aim, it was found that meditation practice did have an overall influence on avoidant coping, however its relationship with approach coping was not as influential, as compared to avoidant coping. Additionally, it was also found that long-term meditation experience was somewhat effective for alexithymic individuals. Lastly, in terms of the third aim, it was found that the correlations overall between the three relevant constructs were not sufficiently significant or correlated to conduct a mediation analysis. Nonetheless, the results of the present study contribute to current understandings of the association between alexithymia, meditation practice and coping. Overall, highlighting that consistent meditation practice might assist with emotion regulation in alexithymic individuals, and thus it may be an effective intervention strategy or a long-term treatment approach to reduce alexithymia. These findings and their theoretical and clinical implications, strengths and limitations are described in further detail below.

4.2 Summary of Findings

4.2.1 Relationship of Alexithymia with Coping

The first aim of this study was to determine the relationship of alexithymia with two distinct styles of coping (avoidant and approach). Since there was no research that examined the direct relationship of approach-focused coping with alexithymia, it was hypothesised that alexithymia would be associated with higher avoidant coping and lower approach coping. The obtained results revealed that Hypothesis 1 was partially supported: alexithymia was significantly and positively associated with avoidant coping, but non-significant and almost unrelatable with approach coping.

The relationship between alexithymia, as measured by the TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994) in an adult community sample, and avoidant coping, as measured by the Brief-COPE (Carver, 1997), was stronger in the present study, compared to previous studies which used other coping measures (Vingerhoets et al., 1995; Besharat, 2010). In saying this, the overall association between alexithymia and avoidant coping was in line with various other studies, reporting that alexithymic individuals often tended to rely more frequently on emotion- and avoidance-focused coping or maladaptive coping strategies (Vingerhoets et al., 1995; Besharat, 2010), all of which are a form of avoidant coping, as they altogether suggest negative affect (Higgins and Endler, 1995). The reason behind this finding may be that alexithymic individuals are incapable of regulating their emotions (Vingerhoets et al., 1995), and thus prefer to disengage from the stressful situation, as a way of reducing their negative emotions (e.g. anxiety) (Stone, 2005). This could explain why alexithymia is significantly and positively correlated with avoidant coping.

Conversely, alexithymia and approach coping were almost unrelated, compared to previous studies, which looked at similar adaptive coping strategies (i.e. problem-focused

coping) (Parker et al., 1998; Higgins & Endler, 1995). In saying this, the overall association between alexithymia and approach coping was in line with other studies, suggesting that alexithymic individuals were much less attentive of problem-focused coping, which is similar to approach-focused coping, as they both suggest positive affect, as opposed to avoidant-focused coping (Parker et al., 1998; Higgins & Endler, 1995). A plausible explanation for this finding may be that alexithymic individuals have lower capacity to reflect upon their stressful situations and lack the ability to use emotions positively to guide their behaviour (Parker et al., 1998; Vingerhoets et al., 1995). This could explain why alexithymia is almost unrelated with approach coping.

4.2.2 Relationship of Meditation Experience with Coping

The second aim of this study was to test the association of meditation practice with reduced maladaptive coping and increased adaptive coping. Since there was no research that examined the association of meditation practice with avoidant and approach coping in alexithymic individuals, it was hypothesised that meditation experience would be associated with lower avoidant coping and higher approach coping. The obtained results revealed that Hypothesis 2 was partially supported: meditation experience was significantly associated with lower avoidant coping, but not so much with higher approach coping in particular.

The results of investigating the relationship between meditation experience and avoidant coping showed that with increased minutes of meditation, but not years and frequency of meditation, there were significant decreases in Avoidant Coping. Those who had meditated for 20+ minutes had significantly lower levels of avoidant coping than those who had not meditated and those who had meditated for less than 20 minutes. Although, there are no studies that have examined this exact relationship, there are findings of other similar studies that have examined

the effect of mindfulness meditation on maladaptive coping strategies, such as binge eating (Kristeller et al., 2006) and alcohol/substance use (Bowen et al., 2006), which may contribute to psychological distress and impairment. As such, the findings of previous studies are comparable to the present study's finding, as they overall indicate that consistent meditation practice reduces the use of maladaptive coping strategies. This may further suggest that regular meditation practice facilitates emotional regulation, which in turn has a positive influence on maladaptive coping strategies, by reducing suffering and improving psychological well-being in alexithymic individuals. This could explain why meditation experience (minutes of meditation) is significantly and positively correlated with avoidant coping.

Conversely, the relationship between meditation experience and approach coping showed a weaker effect. The findings of this study revealed that minutes of meditation was most effective for approach coping but not years and frequency of meditation. Interestingly, those who did not meditate and those who meditated for more than 20 minutes had lower levels of approach coping than those who meditated for *less than 20 minutes*. Cebolla et al. (2017) similarly found that those who meditated for more than 20 minutes reported to have experienced unwanted side effects, involving psychological discomfort. This may be because alexithymic individuals in the *no meditation* group might not have felt the need to meditate, as they may have not realised that their approach coping strategies are lacking. On the other hand, people who meditated for *less than 20 minutes* may know that meditation could strengthen one's observation skills and therefore they may understand just how much meditation time they require before going too deep into unnecessary thoughts, thus explaining their higher levels of approach coping. Alternatively, those who meditated for more than 20 minutes must have been under the impression that longer doses of meditation lead to immediate positive effects, and therefore people who meditated for

20+ minutes may have potentially become more aware of their negative feelings, resulting in lower approach coping. This could explain the relation between meditation experience (minutes of meditation) and approach coping, and why the direction of this relationship was unclear.

4.2.3 Relationship of Meditation Experience with Alexithymia

Hypothesis 3, which stated that meditation experience is associated with lower alexithymia, was partially supported. The reason for formulating this hypothesis was to see if previous findings could be expanded, concerning the positive association of long-term meditation experience with reduced alexithymia.

The present study's findings overall suggested that with increased years of meditation, but not minutes and frequency of meditation, there were significant decreases in alexithymia scores. Those who meditated for 6+ years indicated lower levels of alexithymia than those who did not meditate, along with those who meditated for 1-5 years, and less than 1 year. There are no longitudinal studies that have examined years of meditation experience with alexithymia, potentially due to time constraints. However, previous studies, while limited, have examined this relationship by alternatively considering several weeks of regular meditation in relation to alexithymia scores, for which the results are a good indication that the present study's findings are progressing towards the predicted direction. For instance, De La Fuente Arias et al. (2010) revealed that at the end of a 10-week meditation program, participants showed a significant reduction in alexithymia scores. Similarly, another study by Martín-Asuero and García de La Banda (2007) extended this finding and further indicated that regular mindfulness meditation practice was more effective in the long-term, which consistently reduced levels of alexithymia. This may be because long-term meditators present a greater awareness of their own emotions and feelings than non-meditators or short-term meditators, and are therefore able to modulate their

emotional-physiological states, eventually leading to a decrease in alexithymia scores. This could explain why meditation experience (years of meditation) is significantly and positively correlated with lower alexithymia.

4.2.4 Indirect Relationship of Meditation Experience with Coping Styles through Alexithymia

Finally, the third aim was to examine whether meditation is related to coping by reducing alexithymia. Since there was no research that examined the possibility of meditation being indirectly related to the two distinct styles of coping in this study, by reducing alexithymia, it was hypothesised that meditation experience would be associated with lower avoidant coping and higher approach coping, indirectly through alexithymia. However, Hypothesis 4 was not tested, as the empirical findings prior to mediation were the opposite of what was expected, that is, the categories of meditation experience were not always related to the sub-scales of coping and alexithymia. In saying this, the study had expected a mediation effect to be present, considering it did find a strong linear relationship between alexithymia and higher avoidant coping. Additionally, it was also clear that a positive association was present between meditation experience and decreased avoidant coping and consequently, reduced alexithymia scores. Moreover, this expected finding was in line with previous research which had demonstrated that alexithymia is predictive of maladaptive emotion regulation strategies (Sfärlea et al., 2019) and that it can be reduced by practising meditation on a regular basis (Santarnecchi et al., 2014). However, the results of Hypothesis 2 and 3 were unexpected, as they were both only partially supported, since not all categories of meditation experience (years, minutes and frequency of meditation) were equally related to Approach and Avoidant Coping, and Alexithymia. Therefore, this correlational relationship suggested that a mediation effect was not possible between the relevant constructs. A plausible explanation for these findings may be that the effects of

meditation could have been underpowered due to lower numbers of meditators and higher numbers of non-meditators. As such, this could explain why a mediation effect was not possible for Meditation Experience and Coping, through Alexithymia.

4.3 Theoretical and Clinical Implications

The present study's findings have several important implications, concerning meditation experience, alexithymia and coping.

One of the first major findings is that increased minutes of meditation, but not years and frequency of meditation, may decrease avoidant coping, but might not have a large effect on increasing approach coping. This suggests that meditating routinely for more than 20 minutes is an effective tool for emotion regulation and gradually reducing emotional suffering, while improving psychological well-being, as previously suggested in similar research by Kristeller et al. (2006) and Bowen et al. (2006). This finding also implies that meditation, an internal process, is of limited usefulness in increasing approach coping, and may involve some underlying factors (e.g. individual differences when meditating). However, previous research also emphasises that alexithymic individuals should be prepared to meditate on a long-term basis, in order to see a consistent reduction in maladaptive coping strategies, while potentially encouraging adaptive coping strategies (La Fuente Arias et al., 2010; Martín-Asuero & García de La Banda, 2007). This would be much better than meditating at random times without following a routine, which could actually increase maladaptive coping, based on the present study's findings.

This leads to the second major finding, which implies that meditating for an extensive amount of time (e.g. more than 20 minutes) within a single session can be mentally draining, which could perhaps make an individual more prone to being influenced by negative emotions, potentially making it difficult to reduce alexithymia, as previously found by Cebolla et al. (2017)

and Santarnecchi et al. (2014). This suggests that meditation will be most effective for alexithymic individuals if they meditate for a reasonable amount of time (e.g. 20 minutes maximum) and maintain a routine in the long-term, thus making them more aware of their emotions and gradually reducing the levels of alexithymia, as each year passes.

Overall, based on the present study's findings, it is possible that regular meditation practice could be a helpful tool in managing and reducing maladaptive coping and reducing alexithymia, while encouraging adaptive emotion coping strategies. As such, this suggests that meditation practice could be clinically implied as an effective intervention strategy or a long-term treatment approach, in conjunction with other tools which may further assist in reducing the psychological suffering of alexithymic individuals.

4.4 Strengths, Limitations and Methodological Considerations

The present study presented several strengths and limitations, which should be taken into account when understanding the results.

Firstly, the obtained sample had a limited range of meditators, which may be why the effects of meditation were underpowered. For instance, almost half of the sample had meditation experience but only 7.7% of these had meditated for 6+ years, and only 13.1% of participants meditated for 21+ minutes. Therefore, it is possible that decreased levels of alexithymia and avoidant coping in these groups could also be due to other factors. For example, it was found that participants who meditated for 6 or more years tended to be older and more educated. This could mean that age and education may have been confounding variables. Therefore, future studies should aim to gather a larger sample of meditators, who are at the higher ends of the scale for years of meditation and minutes of meditation. This would balance the groups under these categories and would allow to confirm the relationship of meditation experience with

alexithymia and avoidant coping. Nonetheless, the sample was also a strength as it consisted of both meditators and non-meditators, allowing for comparison. By including both of these groups and different categories of meditation experience, the study was able to clearly demonstrate important differences between meditators and non-meditators. Another strength of the sample was that it was a community sample which had diverse participants, making it possible to generalise relevant evidence for various nationalities.

Secondly, the sample mainly consisted of meditators who undertook mindfulness meditation (37.7%) as one of the many types of meditation. Therefore, the association between meditation experience and the two distinct styles of coping may vary depending on the type of meditation practised. In saying this, those who particularly practised mindfulness meditation also contributed to the strengths of this study, as it provided stronger support that mindfulness meditation assists in reducing avoidant coping and thus helps to reduce alexithymia scores. Therefore, mindfulness meditation could be applied in future interventions seeking to combat this issue.

Thirdly, another limitation was that the present study did not follow the time-ordered relationship required for a mediation analysis (Hyman 1955), considering all measures were collected at one time. Also, the retrospective approach applied for the meditation questions assumes that the predictor (meditation experience) preceded the indirect effect (avoidant and approach coping), which might have been an issue when considering mediation analysis. Therefore, future studies should aim for conceptual timing, which will make mediation analysis more applicable (Tate, 2015).

Additionally, the obtained sample was in the non-alexithymic range (equal to or less than 51) (Eiden, 1998), as the TAS-20 Total mean was 49.03 which is below the expected range.

Therefore, it is possible that the results of this study may have been overpowered by non-alexithymic individuals, and thus might be unfair to generalise with the whole sample. As such, future studies should consider obtaining a larger sample size which will subsequently allow the sample to be in the alexithymic range. This will further strengthen the findings of the study.

Lastly, another limitation was concerning the alexithymia measure, TAS-20 (Bagby et al., 1994b), that is, one of its sub-scales, EOT showed low internal consistency, compared to the DIF and DDF sub-scales, and this is consistent with previous studies (Bagby et al., 1994b; Maroti et al., 2018; Colombarolli et al., 2019). Therefore, future studies could consider further evaluating and validating the EOT sub-scale, as part of their research. Nonetheless, the TAS-20 scale was also one of the strengths of this study as it did correlate with alexithymia, which follows previous findings (Maroti et al., 2018; Colombarolli et al., 2019; Li et al., 2015).

4.5 Future Directions for Research

In addressing the limitations, there are many ways in which the current findings can be strengthened to have an improved understanding of how meditation influences coping and alexithymia.

Firstly, future research should gather a more representative sample with balanced numbers of meditators and non-meditators. This would reduce bias and ensure validity of the results, considering they can be generalised to the target population.

Secondly, future research should also consider gathering personal statements of participants, explaining their reasons for meditating. This would provide further insight into the current theory that those who attempt to meditate, but are inconsistent, may be doing it momentarily, to simply aid the distress associated with their psychological health. Thus, showing higher scores on avoidant coping and lower scores on approach coping than non-meditators.

Lastly, as this study suggests that maintaining a reasonable time of meditation in the long-term will reduce avoidant coping and possibly encourage approach coping, while ultimately reducing alexithymia, future research should consider including an intervention-based program, focusing on how different types of meditation encourage adaptive coping and gradually influence the levels of alexithymia. For example, groups could include a skilful compassion meditation group and a control group. This would help researchers understand whether different types of meditations affect coping and alexithymia in different ways, as well as how each groups' experiences differ and which type of meditation is the most effective for alexithymic individuals.

4.6 Conclusion

The present study's overall findings empirically suggest that years and minutes of meditation are two important factors in reducing avoidant coping and alexithymia. The findings further suggest that meditation experience may be an effective approach towards developing adaptive emotion regulation strategies, which would subsequently help alexithymic individuals attain more emotional awareness. Further, helping to manage or reduce other mental health struggles that have previously been linked to alexithymia. Overall, this study has promising theoretical and clinical implications that are indicative of a positive impact that meditation experience has on reducing avoidant coping and ultimately decreasing alexithymia. Therefore, this area of research deserves further attention, as does other forms of meditation practices, which encourage positive coping. Thus, leading the path towards an improved and more hopeful future for those struggling with alexithymia.

References

- Aaron, R. V., Blain, S. D., Snodgress, M. A., & Park, S. (2020). Quadratic Relationship Between Alexithymia and Interoceptive Accuracy, and Results From a Pilot Mindfulness Intervention. *Frontiers in Psychology, 11*, 132. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00132
- Allen, R., & Heaton, P. (2010). Autism, Music, and the Therapeutic Potential of Music in Alexithymia. *Music Perception*, 27(4), 251–261. https://doi.org/10.1525/mp.2010.27.4.251
- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 10*(2), 125-143. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bpg015
- Bagby, R. M., Parker, J. D., & Taylor, G. J. (1994a). The Twenty-Item Toronto Alexithymia Scale
 II. Convergent, Discriminant, and Concurrent Validity. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 38(1), 33-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(94)90006-x
- Bagby, R. M., Parker, J. D., & Taylor, G. J. (1994b). The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia scale—I. Item selection and cross-validation of the factor structure. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 38(1), 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(94)90005-1
- Baker, J., & Berenbaum, H. (2007). Emotional approach and problem-focused coping: A comparison of potentially adaptive strategies. *Cognition and Emotion*, 21(1), 95-118. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930600562276
- Bermond, B., Clayton, K., Liberova, A., Luminet, O., Maruszewski, T., Ricci Bitti, P. E., . . . Wicherts, J. (2007). A cognitive and an affective dimension of alexithymia in six languages and seven populations. *Cognition and Emotion*, *21*(5), 1125-1136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930601056989

- Bermond, B., Oosterveld, P., & Vorst, C. H. (2015). Chapter 9 Measures of Alexithymia. In Measures of Personality and Social Psychological Constructs (pp. 227-256). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386915-9.00009-7
- Bermond, B., Vorst, H. C., & Vingerhoets, A. J. (1999). The Amsterdam Alexithymia Scale: Its psychometric values and correlations with other personality traits. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 68(5), 241-251. https://doi.org/10.1159/000012340
- Besharat, M. A. (2010). Relationship of alexithymia with coping styles and interpersonal problems. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *5*, 614-618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.152
- Bishop, S. R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N. D., Carmody, J., . . . Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A Proposed Operational Definition. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11(3), 230-241. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bph077
- Bornemann, B., & Singer, T. (2017). Taking time to feel our body: steady increases in heartbeat perception accuracy and decreases in alexithymia over 9 months of contemplative mental training. *Psychophysiology*, *54*(3), 469-482. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.12790
- Bowen, S., Witkiewitz, K., Dillworth, T. M., Chawla, N., Simpson, T. L., Ostafin, B. D., . . . Marlatt, A. G. (2006). Mindfulness meditation and substance use in an incarcerated population. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviours: Journal of the Society of Psychologists in Addictive Behaviours*, 20(3), 343-347. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.20.3.343
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 84*(4), 822-848. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.822

- Carano, A., De Berardis, D., Campanella, D., Serroni, N., Ferri, F., Di Iorio, G., . . . Di Giannantonio, M. (2012). Alexithymia and suicide ideation in a sample of patients with binge eating disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, 18(1), 5-11. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pra.0000410982.08229.99
- Carroll, L. (2013). *Problem-Focused Coping*. New York, NY: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9 1171
- Carver, C. S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol'too long: Consider the brief cope. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *4*(1), 92-100. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327558ijbm0401_6
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *56*(2), 267-283. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.2.267
- Cebolla, A., Demarzo, M., Martins, P., Soler, J., & Garcia-Campayo, J. (2017). Unwanted effects: Is there a negative side of meditation? A multicentre survey. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(9). doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183137
- Cohen, J., Miles, J., & Shevlin, M. (2001). *Applying regression and correlation: A guide for students and researchers*. London: Sage.
- Colombarolli , M. S., Zuanazzi, A. C., Miguel, F. K., & Giromini, L. (2019). Psychometric properties of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) in Brazil. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 56(5), 992-1010. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461519847312
- Damasio, A. (2003). Feelings of emotion and the self. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1001(1), 256-261. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1279.014

- Darrow, S. M., & Follette, W. C. (2014). A Behavior Analytic Interpretation of Alexithymia.

 Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science, 3(2), 98-108.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.03.002
- De Gucht, V. (2003). Stability of neuroticism and alexithymia in somatization. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 44(6), 466-471. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-440X(03)00143-3
- De Haan, H., Joosten, E., Wijdeveld, T., Boswinkel, P., van der Palen, J., & Jong, C. D. (2012).

 Alexithymia is not a stable personality trait in patients with substance use disorders.

 Psychiatry Research, 198(1), 123-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2011.09.027
- De la Fuente Arias, M., Franco Justo, C., & Salvador Granados, M. (2010). Effects of a meditation program (mindfulness) on the measurement of alexithymia and social skills. *Psicothema*, 22(3), 369-375.
- Eiden, T. C. (1998). Twenty Item Toronto Alexithymia Scale: Construct and Convergent Validity in an Undergraduate Population. Oklahoma: Oklahoma State University. https://hdl.handle.net/11244/33514
- Endler, N. S., & Parker, J. D. (1990). Multidimensional assessment of coping: A critical evaluation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *58*(5), 844-854. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.58.5.844
- Erns, J., Böker, H., Hättenschwiler, J., Schüpbach, D., Northoff, G., Seifritz, E., & Grimm, S. (2014). The association of interoceptive awareness and alexithymia with neurotransmitter concentrations in insula and anterior cingulate. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *9*(6), 857-863. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nst058
- FeldmanHall, O., Dalgleish, T., & Mobbs, D. (2013). Alexithymia decreases altruism in real social decisions. *Cortex*, 49(3), 899-904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2012.10.015

- Fortune, D. G., Richards, H. L., Griffiths, C. E., & Main, C. J. (2002). Psychological stress, distress and disability in patients with psoriasis: Consensus and variation in the contribution of illness perceptions, coping and alexithymia. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 41(2), 157-174. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466502163949
- Franco, C. (2009). Flow meditation to calm the body and mind. Madrid: Bubok.
- Freyberger, H. (1977). Supportive Psychotherapeutic Techniques in Primary and Secondary Alexithymia / Discussion. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *28*(1-4), 337-342. https://doi.org/10.1159/000287080
- Fukunishi, I., Kikuchi, M., Wogan, J., & Takubo, M. (1997). Secondary alexithymia as a state reaction in panic disorder and social phobia. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *38*(3), 166-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-440X(97)90070-5
- Fukunishi, I., Yoshida, H., & Wogan, J. (1998). Development of the Alexithymia Scale for Children: A Preliminary Study. *Psychological Reports*, 82, 43-49. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1998.82.1.43
- Gilanifar, M., & Delavar, M. A. (2016). Alexithymia in pregnant women: its relationship with depression. *ASEAN J Psychiatry*, *17*, 35-41.
- Gilbert, P., McEwan, K., Gibbons, L., Chotai, S., Duarte, J., & Matos, M. (2011). Fears of compassion and happiness in relation to alexithymia, mindfulness, and self-criticism.
 Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 85(4), 374-390.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8341.2011.02046.x
- Goerlich, K. S. (2018). The Multifaceted Nature of Alexithymia A Neuroscientific Perspective. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 1614. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01614

- Gori, S., Gieannini, M., Palmieri, G., Salvini, R., & Schuldberg, D. (2012). Assessment of alexithymia: Psychometric properties of the psychological treatment inventory alexithymia scale (PTI-AS). *Psychology*, 3, 136-231. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2012.33032
- Gratz, K. L., & Tull, M. T. (2010). The relationship between emotion dysregulation and deliberate self-harm among inpatients with substance use disorders. *Cognitive Therapy* and Research, 34(6), 544-553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-009-9268-4
- Günther, V., Rufer, M., Kersting, A., & Suslow, T. (2016). Predicting symptoms in major depression after inpatient treatment: the role of alexithymia. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 70(5), 392-398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.01.1532
- Hagan, T. L., Fishbein, J. N., Nipp, R. D., Jacobs, J. M., Traeger, L., Irwin, K. E., . . . Temel, J. S.
 (2017). Coping in Patients With Incurable Lung and Gastrointestinal Cancers: A
 Validation Study of the Brief COPE. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 53(1),
 131-138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.06.005
- Hemming, L., Haddock, G., Shaw, J., & Pratt, D. (2019). Alexithymia and Its Associations With Depression, Suicidality, and Aggression: An Overview of the Literature. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 203. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00203
- Herbert, B. M., & Pollatos, O. (2012). The body in the mind: on the relationship between interoception and embodiment. *Topics in Cognitive Science*, *4*(4), 692-704. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-8765.2012.01189.x
- Higgins, J. E., & Endler, N. S. (1995). Coping, life stress, and psychological and somatic distress. *European Journal of Personality*, 9, 253-270. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2410090403

- Hintikka, J., Honkalampi, K., Koivumaa-Honkanen, H., Antikainen, R., Tanskanen, A.,
 Haatainen, K., & Viinamäki, H. (2004). Alexithymia and suicidal ideation: a 12-month follow-up study in a general population. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 45(5), 340-345.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2004.06.008
- Hintikka, J., Honkalampi, K., Lehtonen, J., & Viinamäki, H. (2001). Are alexithymia and depression distinct or overlapping constructs?: a study in a general population.
 Comprehensive Psychiatry, 42(3), 234-239. https://doi.org/10.1053/comp.2001.23147
- Hoaglin, D. C., & Iglewicz, B. (1987). Fine-Tuning Some Resistant Rules for Outlier Labeling.

 *Journal of the American Statistical Association, 82(400), 1147-1149.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1987.10478551
- Hofmann, S. G., Sawyer, A. T., Witt, A. A., & Oh, D. (2010). The Effect of Mindfulness-Based

 Therapy on Anxiety and Depression: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(2), 169-183. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018555
- Honkalampi, K., Hintikka, J., Saarinen, P., Lehtonen, J., & Viinamäki, H. (2000). Is alexithymia a permanent feature in depressed patients? Results from a 6-month follow-up study.

 *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 69(6), 303-308.
- Honkalampi, K., Hintikka, J., Tanskanen, A., Lehtonen, J., & Viinamäki, H. (2000). Depression is strongly associated with alexithymia in the general population. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 48, 99-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3999(99)00083-5
- Hudlicka, E. (2013). Virtual training and coaching of health behavior: Example from mindfulness meditation training. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 92(2), 160-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2013.05.007

- Hyman, H. (1955). *Survey design and analysis: Principles, cases and procedures*. Glencoe, IL: The Free Press. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316445601600312
- Izci, F., Zincir, S., Zincir, S. B., Bilici, R., Gica, S., Koc, M. S., . . . Semiz, U. B. (2015). Suicide attempt, suicidal ideation and hopelessness levels in major depressive patients with and without alexithymia. *The Journal of Psychiatry and Neurological Sciences*, 28, 27-33. https://doi.org/10.5350/DAJPN2015280103
- Jensen, M. P., Turner, J. A., Romano, J. M., & Karoly, P. (1991). Coping with chronic pain: a critical review of the literature. *Pain*, 47(3), 249-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(91)90216-k
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1990). Full catastrophe living: The program of the Stress Reduction Clinic at the

 University of Massachusetts Medical Center. Delta, New York.

 https://doi.org/10.4236/ojpp.2011.11005
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future.

 *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 10, 144-156.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bpg016
- Kano, M., Mizuno, T., Kawano, Y., Aoki, M., Kanazawa, M., & Fukudo, S. (2012). Serotonin transporter gene promoter polymorphism and alexithymia. *Neuropsychobiology*, 65(2), 76-82. https://doi.org/10.1159/000329554
- Kooiman, C. G., Bolk, J. H., Brand, R., Trijsburg, R. W., & Rooijmans, H. G. (2000). Is alexithymia a risk factor for unexplained physical symptoms in general medical outpatients? *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 62(6), 768-778. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200011000-00005

- Kristeller, J., Baer, R., & Quillian-Wolever, R. (2006). *Mindfulness-based approaches to eating disorders*. San Diego, CA: Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012088519-0/50005-8
- Krohne, H. W. (1993). *Vigilance and cognitive avoidance as concepts in coping research*. Seattle, WA: Hogrefe & Huber.
- Krystal, H. (1979). Alexithymia and Psychotherapy. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 33(1), 17-31. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.1979.33.1.17
- Krystal, H. (1982). Alexithymia and the effectiveness of psychoanalytic treatment. *International Journal of Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy*, *9*, 353-378.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal and coping*. New York: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9 215
- Lesser, I. M. (1981). A review of the alexithymia concept. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 43(6), 531-543. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-198112000-00009
- Li, S., Zhang, B., Guo, Y., & Zhang, J. (2015). The association between alexithymia as assessed by the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale and depression: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, 30(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.02.006
- Longarzo, M., D'Olimpio, F., Chiavazzo, A., Santangelo, G., Trojano`, L., & Grossi, D. (2015).

 The relationships between interoception and alexithymic trait. The self-awareness questionnaire in healthy subjects. *Frontiers in Psychology, 6*, 1149.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01149
- Lovallo, W. R. (1997). Stress & health, Biological and psychological interactions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781071801390.n11

- Lykins, E. L., & Baer, R. A. (2009). Psychological Functioning in a Sample of Long-Term

 Practitioners of Mindfulness Meditation. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 23(3), 226-241. https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-8391.23.3.226
- Marchesi, C., Brusamonti, E., & Maggini, C. (2000). Are alexithymia, depression, and anxiety distinct constructs in affective disorders? *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 49(1), 43-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3999(00)00084-2
- Maroti, D., Lilliengren, P., & Bileviciute-Ljungar, I. (2018). The Relationship Between Alexithymia and Emotional Awareness: A Meta-Analytic Review of the Correlation Between TAS-20 and LEAS. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 453. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00453
- Martín-Asuero, A., & García de La Banda, G. (2007). The advantages of being present: developing a mindfulness to reduce psychological distress. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 7(2), 369-384.
- McGillivray, L. (2015). *Alexithymia in a psychiatric population: Stability and relationship with therapeutic outcome.* Western Australia: Edith Cowan University.
- Meganck, R., Vanheule, S., Inslegers, R., & Desmet, M. (2009). Alexithymia and interpersonal problems: A study of natural language use. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(8), 990-995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2009.08.005
- Messina, A., Beadle, J. N., & Paradiso, S. (2014). Towards a classification of alexithymia: primary, secondary and organic. *Journal of Psychopathology*, 20, 38-49.
- Mikolajczak, M., & Luminet, O. (2006). Is alexithymia affected by situational stress or is it a stable trait related to emotion regulation? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 40(7), 1399-1408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2005.10.020

- Nummenmaa, L., Glerean, E., Hari, R., & Hietanen, J. K. (2014). Bodily maps of emotions.

 *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(2), 646-651. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1321664111
- Parker, J. D., & Endler, N. S. (1996). *Coping and defense: a historical overview.* New York, NY: Wiley.
- Parker, J. D., Keefer, K. V., Taylor, G. J., & Bagby, R. M. (2008). Latent structure of the alexithymia construct: A taxometric investigation. *Psychological Assessment*, 20(4), 385-396. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014262
- Parker, J. D., Taylor, G. J., & Bagby, R. M. (1998). Alexithymia: relationship with ego defense and coping styles. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *39*(2), 91-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0010-440x(98)90084-0
- Parker, J., Bagby, R. M., & Taylor, G. J. (1991). Alexithymia and depression: distinct or overlapping constructs? *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 32(5), 387-394. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-440x(91)90015-5
- Porcelli, P., & Mihura, J. L. (2010). Assessment of Alexithymia With the Rorschach

 Comprehensive System: The Rorschach Alexithymia Scale (RAS). *Journal of Personality*Assessment, 92(2), 128-136. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223890903508146
- Proeve, M. J. (2020). The Relationship of Two Types of Shame with Meditation Experience.

 Mindfulness, 1-49. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-020-01489-1
- Robins, C. J., & Chapman, A. L. (2004). Dialectical behavior therapy: Current status, recent developments, and future directions. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 18(1), 73-89. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.18.1.73.32771

- Saculinggan, M., & Balase, E. (2013). Empirical Power Comparison Of Goodness of Fit Tests for Normality In The Presence of Outliers. *Journal of Physics. Conference Series*, 435. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/435/1/012041
- Salminen, J. K., Saarijärvi, S., Ääirela, E., & Tamminen, T. (1994). Alexithymia state or trait?

 One-year follow up study of general hospital psychiatric consultation out-patients. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 38(7), 681-685. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(94)90020-5
- Samur, D., Tops, M., Schlinkert, C., Quirin, M., Cuijpers, P., & Koole, S. L. (2013). Four decades of research on alexithymia: moving toward clinical applications. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 861. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00861
- Santarnecchi, E., D'Arista, S., Egiziano, E., Gardi, C., Petrosino, R., Vatti, G., . . . Rossi, A. (2014). Interaction between Neuroanatomical and Psychological Changes after Mindfulness-Based Training. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108359
- Sayar, K., Acar, B., & Ak, I. (2003). Alexithymia and suicidal behavior. *The Israel Journal of Psychiatry and Related Sciences*, 40(3), 165-173.
- Segal, Z. V., Williams, J. M., & Teasdale, J. D. (2002). *Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression: A new approach to preventing relapse*. New York: Guilford.
- Sfärlea, A., Dehning, S., Keller, L. K., & Schulte-Körne, G. (2019). Alexithymia predicts maladaptive but not adaptive emotion regulation strategies in adolescent girls with anorexia nervosa or depression. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 7(41). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-019-0271-1

- Sifneos, P. E. (1973). The prevalence of 'alexithymic' characteristics in psychosomatic patients.

 *Psychoterapy and Psychosomatics, 22(2), 255-262. https://doi.org/10.1159/000286529
- Stanton, A. L., Danoff-Burg, S., Cameron, C. L., & Ellis, A. P. (1994). Coping through emotional approach: Problems of conceptualization and confounding. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66(2), 350-362. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.66.2.350
- Stone, L. A. (2005). *The relationship between alexithymia, coping, and distress*. Milwaukee, Wisconsin: Marquette University (Doctoral Thesis). Retrieved from http://proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/login?url=https://www-proquest-com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/docview/304993450?accountid=8203
- Synder, C. R., & Dinoff, B. L. (1999). *Coping. Where have you been?* New York: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med:psych/9780195119343.001.0001
- Tate, C. U. (2015). On the Overuse and Misuse of Mediation Analysis: It May Be a Matter of Timing. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 37(4), 235-246.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2015.1062380
- Taylor, G. J., Bagby, R. M., & Parker, J. D. (1997). Disorders of Affect Regulation: Alexithymia in Medical and Psychiatric Illness. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511526831
- Tominaga, T., Choi, H., Nagoshi, Y., Wada, Y., & Fukui, K. (2014). Relationship between alexithymia and coping strategies in patients with somatoform disorder. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 10, 55-62. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S55956
- Tukey, J. W. (1977). Exploratory Data Analysis. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

- Vingerhoets, A. J., Van Heck, G., Grim, R., & Bermond, B. (1995). Alexithymia: A Further Exploration of Its Nomological Network. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 64(1), 32-42. https://doi.org/10.1159/000288988
- Wearden, A., Cook, L., & Vaughan-Jones, J. (2003). Adult attachment, alexithymia, symptom reporting, and health-related coping. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 55(4), 341-347. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00635-9
- Zeitlin, S. B., McNally, R. J., & Cassiday, K. L. (1993). Alexithymia in victims of sexual assault: an effect of repeated traumatization? *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *150*(4), 661-663. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.150.4.661

Appendices

Appendix A

T-tests for Gender Differences in Alexithymia and Coping Measures

Independent samples t-tests were conducted to indicate statistically significant gender differences on the various measures used in the present study. However, the obtained results showed non-significant differences between males and females on the DIF t(126) = -.38, p = .71, DDF t(126) = 1.03, p = .30, EOT t(126) = 1.10, p = .27, TAS-20 Total t(126) = .55, p = .58, Avoidant Coping t(126) = .20, p = .85 and Approach Coping t(126) = .24, p = .81. That is, the average DIF score of males (M = 16.69, SD = 7.04) was not significantly different from that of females (M = 17.16, SD = 6.53); The average DDF score of males (M = 13.67, SD = 4.70) was not significantly different from that of females (M = 12.83, SD = 4.19); The average EOT score of males (M = 19.78, SD = 4.12) was not significantly different from that of females (M = 50.13, SD = 12.51) was not significantly different from that of females (M = 48.87, SD = 12.39); The average Avoidant Coping score of males (M = 24.0, SD = 6.72) was not significantly different from that of females (M = 23.75, SD = 6.17); The average Approach Coping score of males (M = 31.11, SD = 6.54) was not significantly different from that of females (M = 30.83, SD = 6.18).

One-Way ANOVA for Level of Education Differences in Alexithymia and Coping Measures

One-way ANOVA was conducted to indicate statistically significant between-group differences for the level of education on the various measures used in the present study. The obtained results showed a significant difference overall, but there was no clear difference between particular education groups. For instance, a one-way ANOVA reported significant but unclear differences between those who had completed TAFE or another technical diploma and

those who had completed a postgraduate degree on the DIF, F(5, 123) = 2.60, $\eta^2 = .10$, p = .03, DDF, F(5, 123) = 2.42, $\eta^2 = .09$, p = .04, EOT, F(5, 123) = 2.72, $\eta^2 = .10$, p = .02, TAS-20 Total, F(5, 123) = 3.13, $\eta^2 = .11$, p = .01 and Avoidant Coping, F(5, 123) = 3.77, $\eta^2 = .13$, p = .00, whereas a one-way ANOVA reported non-significant differences on Approach coping, F(5, 123) = 1.37, $\eta^2 = .05$, p = .24.